# **FARMING FOR THE FUTURE** Organic and Agroecological Solutions to Feed the World

BY CHRISTOPHER D. COOK, KARI HAMERSCHLAG, AND KENDRA KLEIN, PHD





Buffer strips planted in permanent vegetation can help to manage soil and water quality and provide habitat for beneficial organisms; planting along contour lines can reduce soil erosion.

## Acknowledgements

This report was written by Christopher D. Cook, Kari Hamerschlag, Friends of the Earth U.S. and Kendra Klein, PhD, Friends of the Earth U.S. with contributions from Friends of the Earth International and Friends of the Earth Europe. We are grateful for the extensive research and editorial support provided by Maria Deloso.

The opinions expressed in this report do not necessarily reflect those of its supporters or reviewers. Any errors or omissions are the responsibility of Friends of the Earth U.S.

### **About Friends of the Earth**

Friends of the Earth U.S., founded by David Brower in 1969, is the U.S. voice of the world's largest federation of grassroots environmental groups, with a presence in 75 countries. Friends of the Earth works to defend the environment and champion a more healthy and just world. Through our more than 45-year history, we have provided crucial leadership in campaigns resulting in landmark environmental laws, precedent-setting legal victories and groundbreaking reforms of domestic and international regulatory, corporate and financial institution policies. Our current campaigns focus on promoting clean energy and solutions to climate change, ensuring the food we eat and products we use are safe and sustainable, and protecting marine ecosystems and the people who live and work near them. **www.foe.org** 

©Copyright June 2016 by Friends of the Earth.

# CONTENTS

Intro	Introduction		
I. Far	ming at the Crossroads: Ecological versus Industrial Agriculture	6	
•	Agroecology: Building a Healthy, Just and Resilient Food Future	6	
•	Expanded U.S. Organic Production Needed to Meet Growing Demand	7	
•	Industrial Agriculture: Undermining Our Future Food Security		
II. Co	untering Food Industry Myths with Facts	9	
•	Addressing the Root Causes of World Hunger	9	
•	Producing Enough Food to Feed the World		
•	Beyond Yield: The Many Benefits of Organic Farming	10	
•	Protecting Human and Ecological Health for Long-Term Sustainability	11	
•	The Empty Promises of Genetically Engineered Crops	12	
III. Ci	reating a Sustainable and Just Food System to Feed the World — Now and in the Future	13	
•	Reducing Energy Use and Greenhouse Gas Emissions	13	
•	The Climate Solution under Our Feet	13	
•	Climate Resilience and Water Conservation	13	
•	Fostering Biodiversity	14	
•	Reducing Use of Harmful Pesticides	14	
•	Finding the Natural Solution: Crop Rotation and Mixed Livestock System Drives Success on an Iowa Farm	14	
•	Decreasing Meat Consumption, Improving Livestock Production	15	
•	Bridging Sustainability and Food Sovereignty	16	
IV. Po	blicy Solutions: Tackling Hunger's Root Causes and Protecting Natural Resources	17	
•	Funding Research for a Better Food Future	17	
•	Major U.S. Policy Reform Must be on the Menu	17	
V. Co	nclusion	18	
Refe	rences	19	



## Introduction

There is no debate that eliminating hunger worldwide is one of humanity's greatest challenges in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. However, there are radically divergent visions for how to achieve this goal. Many people equate "feeding the world" with the need to produce more food. Yet this simplistic analysis ignores fundamental facts about world hunger. In fact, the mandate to produce more food to feed the world is often invoked to justify food and farming policies and practices that exacerbate the conditions of hunger and undermine our ability to feed future generations.

Feeding the world sustainably requires that we protect the ecological resources that are essential for producing food now and in the future. As this report documents, four decades of scientific evidence show that agroecological farming, including diversified organic agriculture,<sup>†</sup> is the most effective agricultural response to the environmental challenges that threaten our future food security, such as climate change, soil erosion, water scarcity and loss of biodiversity.

Feeding the world sustainably requires that we protect the ecological resources that are essential for producing food now and in the future. Furthermore, research consistently demonstrates that world hunger is not primarily a problem of overall supply of food, but rather of poverty, lack of democracy and unequal access to land, water and other resources, especially for women.<sup>1,2</sup> As a systems-based approach to food and farming, agroecology addresses the social and economic drivers of chronic hunger endured by nearly 800 million people around the world.<sup>3</sup>

Research consistently demonstrates that world hunger is not a problem of supply, but rather of poverty, lack of democracy and unequal access to land, water and other resources.

Meanwhile, today's dominant industrial food system is rapidly depleting and degrading the world's soil, water and biodiversity; intensifying climate disruption; consolidating wealth and power over food-related resources; and accelerating poverty and hunger. Environmental harm caused by industrial agriculture costs the world \$3 trillion each year according to the <u>United Nations Food and</u> <u>Agriculture Organization.</u><sup>4</sup>

Despite this evidence, a chorus of agribusiness leaders, lobbyists and policymakers insists that we need more of the same to feed a growing population of up to nine billion people by 2050. As



Diversified farming systems are a set of methods and tools developed to produce food sustainably by leveraging ecological diversity at plot, field, and landscape scales. - UC Berkeley Center for Diversified Farming Systems

Friends of the Earth's 2015 report <u>Spinning Food</u> documents, agrichemical companies and their allies spend tens of millions of dollars a year to spread misleading messages about the safety and necessity of chemical-intensive industrial agriculture. This narrative — along with a political process captured by corporate interests — bolsters a system that delivers billions of dollars a year in profits to agribusinesses. This means yet more fossil-fuelintensive production and costly inputs – including pesticides, synthetic fertilizers, antibiotics, growth hormones and genetically engineered seeds.

This report debunks three dominant myths about food, farming and hunger that keep society on the path of business as usual. We broadly characterize this as the path of "industrial agriculture" and introduce the principles of agroecology as a more sustainable and just foundation for our food future.

We detail extensive research showing that agroecological farming systems are a crucial foundation to feed a growing world population, protect farmer livelihoods and preserve ecological resources to sustain future generations. Our analysis spans both developed and developing countries.

Finally, we discuss policy priorities for advancing agroecological farming, including diversified organic systems. While we focus primarily on the United States, it will take a diversity of approaches and innovations at both local and global scales to transform our food and farming systems.

In the face of climate change and rising demand for resources, the need for ecologically sustainable and resilient food production is more urgent than ever. "Increasing the proportion of agriculture that uses sustainable, organic methods of farming is not a choice, it's a necessity," says Claire Kremen, professor of Conservation Biology at University of California at Berkeley, "We simply can't continue to produce food far into the future without taking care of our soils, water and biodiversity."<sup>5</sup>

"Increasing the proportion of agriculture that uses sustainable, organic methods of farming is not a choice, it's a necessity. We simply can't continue to produce food far into the future without taking care of our soils, water and biodiversity."

Professor Claire Kremen, UC Berkeley

The good news is that solutions are available — if policymakers, citizens, and businesses are willing to make vitally needed changes. Over the past decade, the ecological farming and food sovereignty movements have grown from a small trickle to a powerful stream, propelling millions of farmers, eaters and policymakers toward a better future. By advancing agroecology and organic farming, Friends of the Earth and our allies are helping to lead a groundswell of citizen, consumer and farmer action focused on building a sustainable, healthy and equitable food system for all.



Diversified, organic crop production at Cedar Circle Farm, Vermont.



## I. Farming at the Crossroads: Ecological versus Industrial Agriculture

#### Agroecology: Building a Healthy, Just and Resilient Food Future

Agroecology — the science and practice of sustainable agriculture — creates highly productive farming systems by tapping farmers' knowledge and integrating agricultural innovations developed over millennia with emerging scientific research.<sup>6</sup> While industrial agriculture is chemically-intensive and biologically-simplified, agroecology works with nature as a powerful ally, adapting to and regenerating nature's resources.<sup>7</sup> Agroecological farming methods include intercropping, cover cropping, crop rotation, conservation tillage, composting, managed livestock grazing and combined animal and plant production.

These methods are the foundation of organic agriculture, a certified set of production standards that are rooted in agroecological principles. The U.S. Department of Agriculture National Organic Program describes organic agriculture as the application of a set of cultural, biological and mechanical practices that support the cycling of on-farm resources, promote ecological balance and conserve biodiversity. Organic farming can be considered a subset of the agroecological farming systems that exist around the world, many which are not certified.



Biological control, like the use of ladybird beetles to consume aphids, relies on natural mechanisms of predation, parasitism and herbivory to control pests.

As this report describes in detail, the research is clear that agroecological farming systems, including organic, can produce ample yields to feed a growing world population while boosting agricultural resilience to climate change and regenerating natural resources.

Agroecological farming can produce ample yields to feed a growing world population while boosting agricultural resilience to climate change and regenerating natural resources.

Ecological farming systems can generate many environmental benefits, including water conservation, decreased soil erosion, reduced use of synthetic chemicals and greater biodiversity in the soil and on the farm. They can also help to mitigate and boost resilience to climate change. They strengthen resilience to drought and floods by improving soil structure and water-holding capacity and can decrease agriculture's unsustainable energy use and greenhouse gas emissions.<sup>8,9,10</sup> By sequestering more carbon in the soil than conventional practices, these methods can be an important part of climate change mitigation strategies.<sup>11,12</sup>

Agroecology is not only about farming practices, it is a holistic approach that includes cultural diversity and social justice as important aims of our food and faming systems. Agroecology is a central pillar of food sovereignty, a global grassroots movement working to combat poverty, inequality and hunger by promoting democratically-controlled food production and challenging corporate power in our food system.<sup>13</sup> The research is clear: world hunger is caused primarily by poverty, lack of democracy and unequal access to land, water and other resources and infrastructure, especially among women.<sup>14,15</sup> Rather than simply producing more food under unequal conditions, the solution to hunger hinges on creating more democratic and fair political and economic systems that expand access to resources. Agroecology challenges unjust power and inequality in society and promotes policies and practices that make farmers, fisherfolk, pastoralists, indigenous people, workers, consumers and citizens the primary decision makers about food and farming.



### Expanded U.S. Organic Production Needed to Meet Growing Demand



Agroecology can refer to a wide range of ecologically restorative food and farming systems, including diversified organic production that meets or exceeds the standards of the U.S. National Organic Program.

With \$39 billion in organic sales in 2014, the U.S. accounts for 43 percent of the global market for organic food,<sup>16,17</sup> yet it accounts for just five percent of land under organic production worldwide.<sup>18</sup> Less than one percent of U.S. cropland is devoted to organic production.<sup>19</sup> Despite a 300 percent increase in certified organic operations in the U.S. since 2002,<sup>20</sup> farmers are not able to keep up with demand.

There is a significant need and opportunity to increase domestic, diversified organic production in the United States.<sup>21</sup> The government's failure to

invest adequately in domestic organic agriculture represents a missed opportunity to deliver many benefits to U.S. farmers, food businesses and consumers. Research demonstrates that organic farming systems are more profitable for farmers, reduce consumer and farmworker exposure to pesticides and provide an impressive range of environmental benefits (see table below).<sup>22</sup>

Some have raised concerns that increasing corporate ownership of organic brands and farming operations has begun to mirror the economic consolidation and mono-cropping associated with the industrial food system.<sup>23</sup> Research shows that organic systems that employ diversification techniques like multicropping and crop rotations perform better than organic monoculture systems.<sup>24</sup> State and federal research and policies should foster diversified organic production and support the entry of small and mid-scale producers into the market.

Organic farming practice	Environmental benefits
Crop rotation	Enhances soil quality, disrupts weed, insect and disease life cycles, sequesters carbon and nitrogen, diversifies production
Manure, compost, green manure use	Enhances soil quality, sequesters carbon and nitrogen, contributes to productivity
Cover cropping	Enhances soil quality, reduces erosion, sequesters carbon and nitrogen, prevents dust (protects air quality), improves soil nutrients, and contributes to productivity
Avoidance of synthetic fertilizers	Avoids contamination of surface and ground waters, enhances soil quality, sequesters carbon, mitigates salinization (in many cases)
Avoidance of synthetic pesticides	Enhances biodiversity, improves air quality, enhances soil quality, assists in effective pest management, prevents harm to pollinators, reduces costs of chemical inputs, and reduces exposure of farmworkers and rural communities to harmful pesticides
Planting habitat corridors, borders, and/or insectaries	Enhances biodiversity, supports biological pest management, provides wildlife habitat
Buffer areas	Improves water quality, enhances biodiversity, prevents wind erosion

#### Table 1: Environmental Benefits of Organic Agriculture

Source: Adapted from Organic Farming for Health and Prosperity. OFRF Executive Summary 2011



Monocultures rely on high inputs of synthetic fertilizer and pesticides to manage fertility, pests and disease.

#### Industrial Agriculture: Undermining our Future Food Security

Industrial agriculture relies on monocultures, largescale energy-intensive operations and chemical inputs that are harmful to humans and the planet. This toxic mix includes synthetic pesticides, fertilizers, growth hormones, antibiotics and crops that are genetically engineered to be herbicide tolerant. These factory-like industrial practices are undermining the ecosystems we depend on to grow food; depleting and degrading the world's soil, water and biodiversity; and intensifying climate disruption.<sup>25</sup>

The dominant industrial food system also generates enormous social and public health costs. The political and economic structures underlying the global food system are consolidating wealth and power over food-related resources and accelerating world poverty and hunger.<sup>26</sup> Meanwhile, overconsumption of unhealthy foods in some regions drives rising rates of chronic diseases such as obesity and type 2 diabetes.<sup>27</sup> A growing body of evidence links certain classes of agricultural pesticides to illnesses including cancers, neurodevelopmental disorders, reproductive disorders, asthma, birth defects and acute poisonings.<sup>28,29</sup> These diseases disproportionately impact low income communities and people of color in the U.S. and around the world. Together, the global economic cost of premature death, disability and disease connected to food production and consumption is hundreds of billions of dollars a vear.30,31

Evidence of industrial agriculture's destructive path is everywhere:

• Rapid depletion and degradation of soil and water resources.<sup>32,33</sup>

- Generation of major greenhouse gas emissions and significant vulnerability to climate change.<sup>34</sup>
- Widespread pesticide and fertilizer pollution of water ways and oceanic "dead zones" linked to fertilizer runoff.<sup>35</sup>
- Large-scale habitat and biodiversity losses threatening essential species, including pollinators.<sup>36,37</sup>
- Rapidly dwindling genetic diversity of seeds, crops and livestock breeds.<sup>38</sup>
- Severe animal suffering.<sup>39</sup>
- Impoverishment of farmers and agricultural workers worldwide.<sup>40,41</sup>
- Reduced effectiveness of antibiotics to fight human diseases.<sup>42,43</sup>
- Nearly 800 million people suffering from hunger, 1.9 billion overweight or obese, and billions spent on diet-related diseases.<sup>44,45</sup>
- Rapid loss and concentration of farmlands and water access due to land grabs and development.<sup>46,47</sup>
- Poverty wages for millions of agricultural and food industry workers who suffer high rates of injury and chronic illness.<sup>48,49</sup>
- Increased obesity and type 2 diabetes epidemics in some countries and pesticide-related diseases suffered disproportionately by farm workers and rural communities worldwide.<sup>50</sup>

"Unveiling the hidden costs of mainstream agriculture. . . [shows] that investing in conversion to sustainable food and agriculture systems is a much cheaper option than current expenditures for environmental mitigation and public health," says Nadia El-Hage Scialabba of the United Nation's Food and Agriculture Organizations (FAO).

# II. Countering Food Industry Myths with Facts

In this section we tackle three pervasive misconceptions about the food system. These misleading claims, which are propagated by agribusiness, philanthropic and international institutions and policymakers, are used to justify policies, research and markets that propel destructive agricultural practices and concentrate wealth and power in the hands of the few. The facts illustrate why the current industrial food system is untenable — and why we must continue to build a more sustainable and just food system rooted in agroecological principles.

# Addressing the Root Causes of World Hunger

**Myth**: We must significantly increase food production to feed the world.

**Facts:** Scientists estimate that farmers already produce enough food to feed 10 billion people — far more than the current population of roughly 7.3 billion.<sup>51</sup> Still, nearly 800 million go hungry every day and many more are undernourished.<sup>52</sup> Research consistently demonstrates that world hunger is not a problem of supply, but rather of poverty, lack of democracy and unequal access to land, water and other resources.<sup>53,54</sup>

**Solution:** Solving world hunger requires policies and programs that democratize access to food, arable land, water, credit and fair markets, particularly for women. To address hunger and poverty sustainably, we must expand public investment in agroecological farming, especially among the small food producers who make up more than 90 percent of all farmers worldwide.<sup>55</sup> We must also reduce global food waste and shift consumption towards plant-based foods (particularly in the U.S. and other wealthy countries that consume large amounts of meat) and away from growing feed for livestock and biofuels.

Smallholders are the backbone of world food supply; they represent over 90 percent of farmers worldwide and provide more than 80 percent of the food consumed throughout much of the developing world, particularly Southern Asia and sub-Saharan Africa.<sup>56</sup> Fostering small farmers' ability to feed themselves and their communities is fundamental to food security and poverty reduction, especially for more than 1 billion poor, rural people worldwide.<sup>57,58</sup>

The dominant industrial food system is rife with systemic inequalities that exacerbate poverty and

hunger. By concentrating food sector profits, market control and access to seeds and land among a handful of corporations, and by generating profits based on poverty wages and low crop prices for farmers, this system impoverishes millions of farmers and workers across the globe.<sup>59</sup> From Africa and Asia to Latin America and the U.S., corporate control over markets and supply chains is displacing millions of small-scale farmers.<sup>60,61</sup> Massive land grabs around the world deprive small farmers especially women - of land and resources needed to feed their families and build thriving, food-secure communities.<sup>62</sup> These dynamics have created some of the world's highest rates of poverty and hunger among small-scale food producers and rural communities worldwide.63 Farm laborers and food industry workers across the world suffer poverty wages and high rates of injury and chronic illness.<sup>64,65</sup> In the U.S., consistently low wages make food system workers twice as likely as others to receive federal food assistance.66

Making matters worse, much of agricultural production worldwide is not devoted to feeding people. In the U.S., 36 percent of all corn is used to feed livestock, another 40 percent for biofuels.67 This means vast amounts of farmland that could produce a variety of nutritious foods are locked up in feed and fuel production. These trends are replicated globally: roughly one-third of grain produced worldwide becomes animal feed while 17 percent goes to ethanol and other biofuels.<sup>68</sup> Devoting land and food crops to biofuel production is particularly harmful, as it raises food prices and diverts land and resources away from food production.<sup>69</sup> Finally, approximately one-third of the food that is produced globally (1.3 billion tons) never makes it to the plate because it is lost to waste and spoilage or left in the field.<sup>70</sup>

The Economist summarized the shortcomings of the assumption that world hunger is an issue of supply in a February 2011 special report, stating, "Indeed, the world produces more than just enough to go round. Allowing for all the food that could be eaten but is turned into biofuels, and the staggering amounts wasted on the way, farmers are already producing much more than is required — more than twice the minimum nutritional needs by some measures. If there is a food problem, it does not look like a technical or biological one."<sup>71</sup>

# Producing Enough Food to Feed the World

**Myth**: Organic farming cannot produce enough food to feed the world.

**Facts:** A growing body of research shows that agroecological farming systems, including organic agriculture, can yield more than enough food to feed a growing population while generating significant economic, health and environmental benefits.<sup>72,73</sup> By improving soil, conserving water and protecting biodiversity, ecological farming methods create greater resilience than industrial agriculture to the impacts of climate change.

**Solution:** To ensure ample yields while protecting natural resources, we must invest more public funds in agroecological farming research, technical assistance, credit access and other incentives to expand regional, organic and diversified farming systems.

While organic systems, on average, produce lower yields than conventional farming systems, research has found that organic can match or exceed conventional yields depending on the crop, growing conditions and management practices.74,75,76,77 A UC Berkeley meta-analysis of 115 studies found that yields for organic agriculture are higher than previously thought when farmers use diversification techniques such as multiple cropping and crop rotation. In these cases, the yield gap shrinks to less than 10 percent. For some crops - including legumes, oats, tomatoes and apples - the analysis found no significant yield difference.<sup>78</sup> Research from the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) shows that agroecological grain production using fewer synthetic chemicals can match or exceed U.S. industrial grain yields while providing equal or higher profits to farmers and dramatically reducing freshwater toxicity.79

# Beyond Yield: The Many Benefits of Organic Farming

When assessing the productivity of farming systems, we must go beyond a narrow focus on yield. While conventional farming systems have achieved higher yields over the past half century, they have too often done so at great expense to human health, workers' rights, animal welfare and the environment. If we take the entire system into account, research shows that organic approaches consistently outperform conventional on a broad set of health and sustainability criteria. According to a recent meta-analysis, organic farming systems are more profitable for farmers, deliver equally or more nutritious food that contains less (or no) pesticide residues and provide multiple ecosystem benefits (see Figure 1, next page).<sup>80</sup>

Organic farming systems consistently outperform conventional systems on a broad set of health and sustainability criteria - they are more profitable for farmers, deliver equally or more nutritious food that contains less (or no) pesticide residues and provide multiple ecosystem benefits.

Protecting and regenerating natural resources ensures our ability to produce ample food for future generations. Well-managed organic systems can reduce soil erosion, protect water resources, produce fewer greenhouse gases, store more carbon in the soil, provide more pollinator habitat and increase the water-holding capacity of soils.<sup>81</sup> By building soils and developing locally-adapted seeds, organic and other agroecological methods can help to protect yields amid the weather extremes and seasonal disruptions of climate change.<sup>82,83</sup>

Organic farming can also provide greater economic benefits to farmers. A meta-analysis of 40 years of studies of 55 crops grown on five continents found that organic agriculture increased farmers' profitability by 22-35 percent over non-organic production.<sup>84</sup> In the U.S., studies show that organic farmers earn a higher net return than do their conventional counterparts due to lower input costs and higher price premiums.<sup>85,86</sup>

Organic and other ecological farming methods can play a particularly important role in developing nations because they improve yield while maintaining or lowering the costs of production. By prioritizing farmer knowledge and innovation over costly inputs like pesticides and genetically engineered seeds, agroecological methods can be more accessible to low-income farmers. According to the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), the majority of chronically hungry people in developing countries are small farmers who are often too poor to purchase inputs and are marginalized from markets.<sup>87</sup> A UN report on organic agriculture and food security in Africa found that organic production systems outperformed traditional systems and yielded on



**Figure 1.** An assessment of organic farming relative to conventional farming illustrates that organic systems provide better balance in the four areas of sustainability: production (orange), environment (blue), economy (red) and well-being (green). Each petal's length represents the level of performance of specific sustainability metrics. Credit: Reganold. & Wachter (2016). Organic agriculture in the twenty-first century. Source: Nature Plants.

par with conventional.<sup>88</sup> One meta-analysis found that diversified farming practices can improve yields by 174 percent in developing nations compared to conventional subsistence strategies.<sup>89</sup> The extra labor required for organic agriculture can be a benefit, providing rural employment and development opportunities.<sup>90</sup>

# Protecting Human and Ecological Health for Long-Term Sustainability

**Myth:** Large-scale industrial agriculture is more efficient and sustainable than ecological approaches to farming and provides the technologies and methods we need to feed the world.

**Facts:** Measured simply by the production of calories and economic efficiency, industrialized agriculture might seem "efficient," but this ignores the massive environmental, social and health degradation wrought by industrial food production, processing, distribution, consumption and waste. By all of these measures — costs we all pay — the dominant food system is remarkably expensive and inefficient. Rather than feeding the world sustainably into the future, the industrial food system is cutting off the branch we're sitting on by degrading the ecosystem functions we rely on to produce food.

**Solution:** Agroecological farming methods are scientifically proven to be the best path to long-term sustainable food production; they produce ample harvests while protecting human and ecological health. Policymakers must strengthen

regulation of industrial agriculture, eliminate subsidies that promote destructive industrial farming practices and invest in diversified, ecological farming systems.

According to a recent report by the UN FAO, environmental damage from conventional agriculture costs the world \$3 trillion each year, including \$1.8 trillion in costs from livestock production.<sup>91</sup> These expenses include the degradation and depletion of soil and water and loss of biodiversity. The report shows that agroecological methods greatly diminish environmental costs while improving farmer incomes.

## Environmental damage from conventional agriculture costs the world \$3 trillion each year, including \$1.8 trillion in costs from livestock production.

These hidden costs will only increase if current trends in population growth, meat and energy consumption and food waste continue.<sup>92</sup> These impacts are exacerbated by international trade regimes such as the World Trade Organization and trade deals such as the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) and the Central America Free Trade Agreement (CAFTA).<sup>93</sup> A new wave of mega-trade deals, including the Transatlantic Trade



and Investment Partnership (TTIP) and the Trans Pacific Partnership (TPP), will accelerate the harmful impacts of industrial agriculture by prioritizing industrial production of export commodities while eroding public investments in diversified food production for local and regional consumption.<sup>94,95</sup> These trade regimes promote input-intensive agriculture that pushes farmers into debt, causing farm closures and consolidation, poverty and migration.<sup>96</sup>

Rather than address the structural causes of poverty, hunger and environmental degradation, agribusiness promotes further intensification of the industrial system through costly and ineffective distractions such as "climate-smart agriculture" and "sustainable intensification," in which synthetic chemicals and genetically engineered crops play a central role.<sup>97</sup>

# The Empty Promises of Genetically Engineered Crops

Nowhere is the drive for further intensification of industrial agriculture more apparent than the push to expand genetic engineering (GE) as a solution to both world hunger and environmental degradation.

As detailed by the Friends of the Earth report, <u>Spinning Food</u>, the biotech industry has promoted a false narrative of consensus that genetically engineered crops produce higher yields and reduce pesticide use.<sup>98</sup> Contrary to this widely repeated industry myth, after more than 20 years of commercial use, genetically engineered crops have failed to significantly increase yields.<sup>99</sup> While some GE crops have demonstrated modest yield gains (e.g. Bt corn), most yield increases over the past two decades have resulted from conventional breeding and other improvements rather than from genetic engineering.<sup>100</sup>

According to the USDA, more than 90 percent of genetically engineered crops planted in the U.S. are designed to tolerate treatments of herbicides like glyphosate (aka Roundup).<sup>101</sup> Since the advent of Roundup Ready GE crops, use of glyphosate in the U.S. has increased by at least 400 million pounds.<sup>102</sup> As of 2012, the proliferation of glyphosate-resistant "superweeds" affected almost half of all U.S. farmers, damaging yields and triggering increased use of herbicides.<sup>103,104</sup> While agrichemical companies have promoted glyphosate as safe and benign, the World Health Organization recently determined that it is a probable human carcinogen.<sup>105</sup>

Patents and intellectual property rights determine which GE crops become available and who benefits

from them. Just four corporations — Monsanto, Dupont, Syngenta and Dow AgroSciences — own 80 percent of the U.S. corn market, 70 percent of the U.S. soy market, and more than half of the world's seed supply.<sup>106,107,108</sup> The vast majority of GE crops on the market have been engineered to express just two traits — Bt (which expresses a protein that acts as a pesticide) and herbicide tolerance — in just four crops: corn, soy, canola and cotton. Far from addressing hunger, these crops are not grown as staple foods, but are used primarily for animal feed, biofuels, fiber or as ingredients in processed foods.<sup>109,110</sup>

The pipeline of GE crops awaiting approval by the USDA promises more of the same — herbicidetolerance for commodity crops. Experts predict that new GE crops designed to tolerate both 2,4-D and glyphosate herbicides will spur greatly increased use of even more toxic pesticides.<sup>111</sup> Other potentially harmful impacts are only starting to come to light. After approving a new herbicide mixture developed by Dow AgroSciences that uses 2,4-D and glyphosate, the EPA in November 2015 sought to revoke its registration for Dow's new pesticide mixture, called Enlist Duo, because of concerns about synergistic toxicity.<sup>112</sup>

As with other forms of input-intensive agriculture, corporate-controlled GE crop systems exacerbate economic inequalities in farming. They increase farmers' vulnerability to the influence of seed and chemical companies and restrict their ability to experiment, innovate and work cooperatively with their community.<sup>113</sup> From India to the U.S., proprietary seeds and companion herbicides trap farmers in debt and inequitable contracts with powerful global firms.<sup>114</sup>

We cannot afford to expand this toxic industrial system that fails to feed the world when research demonstrates that agroecological alternatives can produce ample food to feed everyone while helping to preserve our health and the environment for future generations.



More than 90 percent of genetically engineered crops planted in the U.S. are designed to tolerate treatments of herbicides like glyphosate (aka Roundup).

# III. Creating a Sustainable and Just Food System to Feed the World — Now and in the Future

Feeding the world sustainably requires that we protect the ecological resources that are essential for producing food now and in the future. Research shows that agroecological practices can improve agricultural resilience to the impacts of climate change, regenerate soil health, protect water resources and foster biodiversity in the soil and on the farm, which improves natural weed and pest management. Ecological farming practices are also a relatively inexpensive way to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and remove CO<sub>2</sub> from the atmosphere by storing carbon in the soil.<sup>115</sup>

Along with sustainable farming practices, agroecology provides guiding social and political principles that promote a democratic transformation of the food system. "Agroecology is political," states the <u>Report of the International Forum for</u> <u>Agroecology</u> from Nyeleni, Mali, "It requires us to challenge and transform structures of power in society."<sup>116</sup>

## "Agroecology is political. It requires us to challenge and transform structures of power in society."

-Report of the International Forum for Agroecology, Nyeleni, Mali

### Reducing Energy Use and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Numerous studies show that agroecological farming systems generate far lower greenhouse gas emissions than chemical-based agriculture.<sup>117</sup> Farms using organic methods emit from one-half to twothirds less carbon dioxide per acre of production than large industrial farms.<sup>118</sup> Unlike conventional operations, organic and diversified farms rely more on people power and less on heavy machinery and use natural methods rather than climate polluting petroleum-based chemicals to build soil fertility and handle pests.<sup>119</sup> Research from the United Kingdom's Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs notes that organically-grown crops require less energy per unit area than conventional crops, largely because of lower fertilizer and pesticide inputs.<sup>120,121</sup>

## The Climate Solution under Our Feet

One of our greatest assets for combating climate change lies right under our feet. Well-managed soils can serve as an important carbon sink for climate change mitigation.<sup>122</sup> With proper soil management, agriculture could offset about 20 percent of all global annual CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, at least in the short run, according to University of Aberdeen researchers.<sup>123</sup> Organic farming systems boast levels of soil organic matter averaging 4 to 5.5 percent, compared to 3 to 4 percent in conventional farming operations.<sup>124</sup> Every one percent increase of soil organic matter indicates roughly 21 tons of carbon sequestered per hectare.<sup>125</sup> According to the UN FAO, carbon sequestration in soil represents 89 percent of agriculture's emissions mitigation potential.126



Cover crops can help manage soil erosion, soil fertility, water, weeds, pests and diseases.

#### Climate Resilience and Water Conservation

Organic soil-building practices reduce farmers' water demand by improving water capture, infiltration and storage. Increasing soil organic matter by one percent can enhance water storage in the soil by 16,000 gallons per acre-foot.<sup>127</sup> In a <u>37-year trial</u>, organic plots produced surface soil moisture levels 42 percent higher than their industrial counterparts, Washington State University researchers found.<sup>128</sup> Organic agriculture systems have proven far more productive and resilient than industrial monoculture farming under drought conditions. In a <u>21-year farm systems trial</u> conducted by the Rodale Institute, organic cornfields yielded one-third more produce than industrial methods in years of drought.<sup>129</sup>



### **Fostering Biodiversity**

Diversified, low-input organic farming systems also provide healthier habitat for bees and other pollinators and can fight pests and invasive weeds effectively and safely without pesticides and other synthetic chemicals. A 2014 Oxford University meta-analysis found that organic farming increased species richness by 30 percent and abundance by 50 percent, producing broad benefits for biodiversity when compared to industrial farming.<sup>130</sup> Another study found organic farms feature up to six times more plant species<sup>131</sup> and about 50 percent more species of pollinators than conventional farms.<sup>132</sup> Organic farming methods can also greatly increase the density and diversity of soil life.



SOURCE: Commons

Organic farming increases species richness and abundance, producing broad benefits for biodiversity.

## **Reducing Use of Harmful Pesticides**

Along with helping to protect pollinators and other beneficial organisms, the dramatically reduced use of pesticides in organic systems results in less soil, air and water pollution and improved health for farmworkers and consumers.<sup>133</sup> Mounting scientific data links agricultural pesticides to a broad range of illnesses, from neurodevelopmental and reproductive disorders to cancers and asthma.134,135 Agricultural workers and rural communities face a much greater risk of suffering pesticide-related illnesses than any other sector of society; children of farm workers are particularly vulnerable.<sup>136,137,138,139</sup> In contrast, organic farming protects farmers, farmworkers and rural communities from toxic pesticide exposure since most synthetic pesticides are banned in organic production. Pesticides approved for organic production tend to be far less toxic, degrade faster and are typically used as a last resort compared with the massive quantities and higher toxicity levels of chemicals allowed in nonorganic production.<sup>140</sup> For consumers, studies show that eating an organic diet reduces exposure to toxic pesticides.<sup>141,142,143</sup>

#### Finding the Natural Solution: Crop Rotation and Mixed Livestock System Drives Success on an Iowa Farm

For lowa farmer Tom Frantzen, synthetic pesticides have no place on the 385-acre farm in northeastern lowa where he grows corn, soybeans, small grains and hay and raises cattle and hogs. Without using any of the chemical herbicides, insecticides and fertilizers that so many large-scale corn and soybean farmers rely on, Frantzen's farm produces higher returns than many of his "conventional" counterparts. His secret to success lies in an integrated, organic approach using crop rotation, building soil health and incorporating animals and their waste into the farm.

One key strategy: Frantzen uses crop rotation to disrupt the growth of troublesome weeds like Palmer amaranth that can choke off crop yields. "We try to create soil conditions that weeds don't do well with," Frantzen explains. "Sometimes we use cover crops, like rye after corn silage, but in general weeds are kept in check from the crop rotation and the diversified biological integrated approach. That fosters a complex underground world in the soil with lots of tiny creatures that eat the weed seed." While many industrial farmers rotate corn with soybeans year after year, Frantzen rotates four or five crops—either corn-soybean-barleyhay-pasture or corn-soybean-barley-hay.

Including forage in the rotation helps to feed Frantzen's cattle while the hogs dine on grain. In turn, composted manure from the livestock fertilizes the cropland. Integrating livestock into the farm's cycle of production and sustainability is crucial, says Frantzen, "The beef cow herd is extraordinarily important. The cows consume hay and pasture 365 days a year, recycling the biomass on the farm and returning the nutrients back to soil. Without that ecological link, we are in a lot of trouble."

The animals also play a critical role in weed control. Besides nourishing the soil with their manure, Frantzen's hogs and Angus cows will happily eat weeds on the farm—converting what is a problem for most farmers into cheap nutritional food for the animals.

Frantzen thrives due to a steady demand and premium prices for his organic products—and he isn't alone. According to the U.S. Department of Agriculture, organic farmers generally do better financially than their conventional farming counterparts, thanks to the lower input costs and higher price premiums.



Tom Frantzen (left) with son James at his organic grain and livestock farm in Iowa.



Agroecological methods, including cover cropping, crop rotations, mulching, composting, and managed livestock grazing help to build healthy, resilient soil.

# Decreasing Meat Consumption, Improving Livestock Production

Consuming less meat and dairy is one of the most important changes we can make to protect our ecological and food future. According to Oxford University researchers, transitioning toward more plant-based diets in line with standard dietary guidelines could save up to \$31 trillion globally by diminishing environmental damage and reducing healthcare costs, lost work time and premature deaths.<sup>146</sup>

Industrially-produced animal products are among the most resource-intensive foods. The science is clear that less meat production and consumption translates into significant environmental benefits including cleaner water (fewer pesticides, hormones, nitrates and manure toxins); a smaller carbon footprint; significant water savings; and more land available for food production.<sup>144,145</sup>

Consuming less meat and dairy is one of the most important changes we can make to protect our ecological and food future. Producing animal products more sustainably is also crucial to creating a healthier food system. When managed responsibly, small and mid-scale livestock production (including intensive and holistic grazing systems) can generate important ecological benefits, including carbon sequestration, water savings and reduced dependence on fossil fuels.<sup>147</sup>

In contrast to factory farm monocultures, agroecological principles support the integration of livestock with crop production, using manure to improve soil fertility and animals to control weeds, thus decreasing dependence on fossil-fuel intensive fertilizers and pesticides. On well-managed pastures, animal waste provides vital organic nourishment for soils and crops, producing less methane than manure stored in vats on factory farms.<sup>148</sup> Rotational and holistic grazing systems can also capture and store more water below the ground.<sup>149</sup>

Research shows that intensive grazing systems can support deep-rooted perennial grasses and build topsoil at a remarkable pace.<sup>150</sup> While carbon sequestration potential varies across ecosystems, research shows the U.S. could sequester about 0.8 to 1.0 metric tons of carbon per hectare by improving management practices and shifting commodity crop acres to pasture.<sup>151</sup> Studies show that some pasture-based systems in the United States produce a smaller carbon footprint than industrial confinement systems.<sup>152,153</sup>

While organic and pasture-raised meat and dairy are healthier and more sustainable, they still require significant resources to produce, especially compared to plant-based proteins. Long-term sustainability in the food system requires that people eat more plants and less meat and dairy. Eating less and better meat will not only improve human health<sup>154</sup> but will provide markets for farmers who develop less intensive, healthier and more ecologically sound mixed livestock production systems.

#### Bridging Sustainability and Food Sovereignty

Agroecology is central to food sovereignty, a worldwide grassroots movement for democratic control of resources and access to land, fair prices for producers and regional food production. Food sovereignty asserts that the people who produce, distribute and consume food should be the primary drivers of food production and distribution policies — rather than the corporations, neoliberal trade regimes and market institutions that dominate today's global food system.<sup>155</sup>

Food sovereignty is fundamentally different from

food security. Nations can meet food security targets without addressing the environmentally destructive and economically exploitative conditions of the dominant food system.<sup>156</sup> In contrast, food sovereignty advances the capacity of indigenous peoples, peasant farmers, fishers, pastoralists and forest dwellers to produce for themselves, their local communities and wider society using sustainable methods.<sup>157</sup>

This rising global movement – backed by more than 300 million small-scale food producers and agri-food workers, as well as consumers, environmentalists and human rights groups recognizes the potential for agroecological farming systems to create more jobs, return higher profits to farmers and produce diverse nutritious crops that can improve income and health in farming communities.<sup>158</sup> Investing in regional sustainable food systems can be a win-win for small-scale food producers, families and local economies by spurring jobs and economic growth. By producing a variety of foods for local processing and marketing, farmers generate local employment and expand community economic activity, according to the 2008 IAASTD report.<sup>159</sup> Farmers' markets and local food marketing can also provide important economic benefits for farmers and local economies.<sup>160</sup>



Smallholders, like this Tanzanian farmer, represent over 90 percent of farmers worldwide and provide more than 80 percent of the food consumed throughout much of the developing world.

# IV. Policy Solutions: Tackling Hunger's Root Causes and Protecting Natural Resources

Agroecology provides the tools needed to transform our food and farming future, but we must invest public funds and create policies to make it happen. To reap the benefits of agroecological farming systems, we must expand policies that prioritize sustainable production, farmer livelihoods, responsible and socially just land use and equitable access to food and agricultural resources. Policymakers must democratize decisionmaking processes; regulate the negative impacts of industrial agriculture; and replace corporate-friendly "free trade" regimes with policies that foster fair markets that benefit farmers, workers, consumers and the environment. This means rejecting corporate, profit-driven carbon market and trading schemes as a means of incentivizing agroecology and soil carbon sequestration.<sup>161,162,163</sup> To create the truly sustainable food system we need, global and U.S. food and agriculture policies must support and incentivize healthy, diversified, local and regional food economies that link small- and mid-sized farms to regional markets.



#### **Funding Research for a Better Food Future**

Despite the many proven benefits of ecological farming, there is a massive disparity in research funding for organic in comparison to conventional agriculture. Of the \$49 billion invested globally in agricultural research, less than one percent goes to organic farming.<sup>164</sup> In the U.S., less than two percent of public agricultural research funding goes to organic and biologically diversified farming.<sup>165,166</sup> Agroecological farming approaches have achieved high levels of environmental performance and productivity despite minimal funding. Increased research could improve yields and environmental gains beyond already proven success.<sup>167</sup>

# Major U.S. Policy Reform Must be on the Menu

Current U.S. agriculture policies expend billions of dollars in subsidies for ecologically destructive industrial production of commodity crops. Between 2009-2012, the Farm Bill spent an average of \$11 billion a year to subsidize chemical-dependent industrial production of grain, seed and fiber crops that provide the raw ingredients for animal feed, biofuels and highly processed food.<sup>168</sup> This misguided use of tax dollars is worsening local food security, undermining soil health and biodiversity and impeding the adoption of more diverse and resilient food production. These subsidies disadvantage small-scale farmers in the U.S. and in developing countries. With large-scale farming operations capturing the lion's share of crop insurance and other subsidies, highly capitalized large-scale operators are able to grow even bigger - further deepening inequities and concentration in the agriculture sector.<sup>169</sup> These subsidies also drive up land costs, making it harder for small and midscale farmers to compete.

Meanwhile, U.S. policymakers invest minimal public resources — averaging just \$138 million a year from 2009-2012 — to build healthy, diversified, local and regional food economies that link small- and mid-sized farms directly to local and regional markets.<sup>170</sup> These include farmers' markets, community-supported agriculture (CSA) and local garden projects, as well as value-added agricultural enterprises, farm-to-school and other initiatives that make fresh food more accessible and create new markets for local farmers. While USDA spending on organic increased to \$167.5 million in 2014, this is still far short of what's needed for research, education, infrastructure and technical assistance to meet the growing demand for organic food in the U.S.<sup>171</sup>

Although the 2014 U.S. Farm Bill delivered modest funding increases for programs that expand local and regional diversified and organic food systems, these funds pale in comparison to the individual subsidies provided to large-scale and often ecologically-destructive farms. Policy solutions in the U.S. require transforming the Farm Bill by shifting away from subsidies for large-scale, chemical-intensive monoculture and towards far greater support for organic agriculture, conservation practices and diversified farming for local and regional markets. Instead of investing billions of dollars in monocultures that don't nourish communities or the environment, policymakers must redirect funds to incentivize agroecological systems,



including diversified organic and sustainable livestock production — a far more effective approach to improving rural economies, food security, environmental sustainability and human health.

To this end, we must:

- Boost public investment in conservation programs, research, technical assistance and other support to expand organic and diversified agroecological systems focused on domestic production;
- Increase small- and mid-scale food producers' access to arable land, water, credit and fair markets with a focus on women, disadvantaged and young farmers;
- Eliminate subsidies that promote destructive industrial farming of crops and livestock and link crop insurance to core conservation practices;
- Shift our diets and enact nutrition, agriculture and procurement policies that promote consumption of more plant-based foods and less meat;
- Shift policies and production away from biofuels and livestock feed and into diversified, nutritious crops;
- Create stricter regulations and anti-trust enforcement to prevent unfair pricing and consolidation throughout the food supply chain;
- Increase living wages and strengthen and enforce labor laws protecting agricultural workers, particularly women;

- Strengthen the regulation of industrial agriculture and concentrated animal feeding operations to reduce air and water pollution and curb the unnecessary use of inputs including pesticides, synthetic fertilizers, antibiotics and hormones; and
- Reduce the billions of tons of food wasted each year.

# **V. Conclusion**

In the face of today's monumental food and agriculture challenges, the solutions are within our grasp. Using well-proven practices that build economic equity, restore our environment and create a resilient and reliable food supply, agroecology offers humanity essential tools to address our biggest crises. Our solutions to climate change, environmental destruction and world hunger must focus on reviving rural economies and advancing food sovereignty, democratizing governance and power in the food economy and raising incomes for small and mid-scale producers, especially women. To feed the world while also confronting climate change, we need policies, incentives and public investments that promote agroecology, diversified organic farming and small- and mid-scale farmer livelihoods. By transitioning from industrial to agroecological food and farming systems, we can produce enough food to feed the world, reduce poverty and restore essential natural resources to feed the planet for generations to come.



# References

- 1 Sen, A. (1981) Poverty and famines: an essay on entitlement and deprivation. Oxford University Press.
- 2 Lappe, Francis Moore and Joseph Collins. (2015). World Hunger: Ten Myths. New York: Grove Press.
- 3 World Food Program. (Online). <u>Hunger Statistics https://www.wfp.org/hunger/stats</u>.
- 4 FAO (2015, June). Natural Capital Impacts in Agriculture: Supporting Better Decision Making. UN FAO: Rome, Italy.
- 5 Yang, Sarah. (2014, December). Can Organic Crops Compete with Industrial Agriculture? Berkeley News.
- 6 Altieri, M. A., & Nicholls, C. I. (2012). Agroecology scaling up for food sovereignty and resiliency. In Sustainable agriculture reviews (pp. 1-29).
- 7 Watts, Meriel and Stephanie Williamson. (2015). <u>Replacing Chemistry with Biology: Phasing out highly hazardous pesticides</u> <u>with agroecology</u>. Pesticide Action Network Asia & the Pacific. Panang, Malaysia.
- 8 Altieri, M. A., Nicholls, C. I., Henao, A., & Lana, M. A. (2015). Agroecology and the design of climate change-resilient farming systems. Agronomy for Sustainable Development Agron. Sustain. Dev., 35(3), 869-890.
- 9 Letter, D. W., Seidel, R., & Liebhardt, W. (2003). The performance of organic and conventional cropping systems in an extreme climate year. American Journal of Alternative Agriculture, 18(03), 146.
- 10 Zeisemer, Jodi. (2007, August). Energy Use in Organic Food Systems. UN Food and Agriculture Organization. Rome.
- 11 Toensmeir, Eric. (2015). The Carbon Farming Solution. Chelsea Green Publishing.
- 12 FAO. (2008, August). <u>Cooperative sectoral approaches and sector-specific actions, in order to enhance implementation of Article 4, paragraph 1(c), of the Convention.</u> Accra, Ghana.
- 13 Altieri, M. A. (2009, July). Agroecology, small farms, and food sovereignty. Monthly Review.
- 14 Lappe, Francis Moore and Joseph Collins. (2015). World Hunger: Ten Myths. New York: Grove Press.
- 15 Sen, A. (1981) Poverty and famines: an essay on entitlement and deprivation. Oxford University Press.
- 16 Organic Trade Association. (2015). State of the Industry.
- 17 Research Institute on Organic Agriculture FiBL. (online). Statistics on Organic Agriculture.
- 18 Ibid.
- 19 US Department of Agriculture. (2014). 2012 Census of Agriculture: Organic Survey. Volume 3, Part 4.
- 20 D,Angelo, Chris (2016, April 5). America's Appetite for Organic Foods Triggers a Natural Farming Boom. Huffington Post.
- 21 Menayang, Adi (2015, April 27). From croplands to chicken coops, organic manufacturers get their hands dirty to anticipate looming shortage. FoodNavigator-USA.
- 22 Reganold, J. P., & Wachter, J. M. (2016). Organic agriculture in the twenty-first century. Nature Plants.
- 23 Hauter, Wenonah. (2012). Foodopoly: The Battle Over the Future of Food and Farming in America. New York: The New Press.
- 24 Ponisio, L. C., M'Gonigle, L. K., Mace, K. C., Palomino, J., de Valpine, P., & Kremen, C. (2014). Diversification practices reduce organic to conventional yield gap. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 282(1799).
- 25 Lin, B. B., Perfecto, I., Vandermeer, J., & and, I. P. (2008). Synergies between agricultural intensification and climate change could create surprising vulnerabilities for crops. BioScience, 58(9), 847-854.
- 26 Lappe, Francis Moore and Joseph Collins. (2015). World Hunger: Ten Myths. New York: Grove Press.
- 27 Patel, Raj (2008). Stuffed and Starved: The hidden battle for the world food system. Brooklyn, NY: Melville House Publishing.
- 28 Sutton, P., D. Wallinga, J. Perron, M. Gottlieb, L. Sayre & T. Woodruff (2011) Reproductive Health and the Industrialized Food System: A Point of Intervention for Health Policy. Health Affairs, 30(5):888-897.
- 29 Klein, K., Clinton, S. and Thottathil, S. (2014). <u>Environmental Nutrition: Redefining Healthy Food in Health Care.</u> Health Care Without Harm. Reston, VA.
- 30 Rijo, J. and Ross, H. (2010). The Global Economic Cost of Cancer. American Cancer Society.
- 31 Dobbs, R. et al. (2014). How the World Could Better Fight Obesity. McKinsey Global Institute.
- 32 Montgomery, D. R. (2007). Soil erosion and agricultural sustainability. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 104(33), 13268-13272.
- 33 Fry, Al. (2005, August). Water: Facts and trends. World Business Council for Sustainable Development. 2-940240-70-1
- 34 U.S. EPA. (2014, April). Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2012. Washington, D.C.
- 35 U.S. EPA. (Online). <u>Polluted runoff: Nonpoint source pollution.</u> https://www.epa.gov/polluted-runoff-nonpoint-source-pollution
- 36 Grossman, E. (2013, April). Declining bee populations pose a threat to global agriculture. Yale Environment 360.
- 37 World Conservation Union. (2008). <u>A World Without Biodiversity?</u> World Conservation, 38(1).
- 38 UN News Centre. (2015, January). UN agency stresses need for genetic diversity in agriculture to combat climate change.

- 39 The Humane Society of the United States. (Online). <u>Farm animal welfare.</u> http://www.humanesociety.org/news/publications/ whitepapers/farm\_animal\_welfare.html?referrer=https://www.google.com/
- 40 World Food Programme. (Online). Who are the hungry? https://www.wfp.org/hunger/who-are
- 41 Altieri, M. A., & Nicholls, C. I. (2013). The adaptation and mitigation potential of traditional agriculture in a changing climate. Climatic Change, 1-13.
- 42 World Health Organization. (2014). <u>Antimicrobial Resistance: Global Report on Surveillance.</u> Geneva, Switzerland.
- 43 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). <u>Antibiotic Resistance: The Global Threat.</u> Atlanta, GA.
- 44 World Food Programme. (Online). Who are the hungry? https://www.wfp.org/hunger/who-are
- 45 Harvard School of Public Health. (2012, October). <u>Obesity Prevention Source: Economic costs.</u> Boston, MA.
- 46 Transnational Institute. (2013, February). <u>The Global Land Grab: A Primer.</u> Amsterdam.
- 47 American Farmland Trust. (Online). Farmland. W https://www.farmland.org/our-work/areas-of-focus/farmland
- 48 Bon Appetit Management Company Foundation, & United Farm Workers. (2011, March). <u>Inventory of farmworker issues and</u> <u>protections in the United States.</u>
- 49 Food Chain Workers Alliance. (2012, June). <u>The Hands that Feed Us: Challenges and Opportunities for Workers along the</u> <u>Food Chain</u>. Los Angeles.
- 50 Klein, K., Clinton, S., and Thottathil, S. (2015). <u>Environmental Nutrition: Redefining Healthy Food in Health Care.</u> Health Care Without Harm. Reston, VA.
- 51 Holt-Giménez, E., Shattuck, A., Altieri, M., Herren, H., & Gliessman, S. (2012). We Already Grow Enough Food for 10 Billion People ... and Still Can't End Hunger. Journal of Sustainable Agriculture, 36(6), 595-598.
- 52 World Food Programme. (2015). <u>Who are the hungry?</u> United Nations World Food Programme Fighting Hunger Worldwide.
- 53 Sen, A. (1981) Poverty and famines: an essay on entitlement and deprivation. Oxford University Press.
- 54 Lappe, Francis Moore and Joseph Collins. (2015). World Hunger: Ten Myths. New York: Grove Press.
- 55 GRAIN. (2014, May). <u>Hungry for Land: Small farmers feed the world with less than a quarter of all farmland</u>. Barcelona, Spain.
- 56 UNEP. (2013, June 4). <u>Smallholder Farmers Key to Lifting Nearly One Billion People Out of Poverty</u>. UN Environment Programme News Centre.
- 57 ETC Group. (2014). With Climate Chaos, Who Will Feed Us? The industrial food chain or the peasant food web?
- 58 Nwanze, K. (2009). <u>Statement by IFAD President on the measures to enhance global food security: Rural development,</u> <u>smallholder farmers and trade considerations.</u> International Fund for Agricultural Development.
- 59 Pesticide Action Network North America. (2010, March).<u>Corporate Concentration in Agriculture: Findings from the UN-led</u> <u>IAASTD.</u> San Francisco.
- 60 ETC Group. (2014). With Climate Chaos, Who Will Feed Us? The industrial food chain or the peasant food web?
- 61 Holt-Giménez, E. (2008, October). The world food crisis: what is behind it and what we can do. Food First.
- 62 Brown, Lester. (2013, January-February). Food, Fuel, and the Global Land Grab. The Futurist.
- 63 UNEP et. al. (2009). <u>Agriculture at a Crossroads: International Assessment of Agricultural Knowledge, Science and</u> <u>Technology for Development</u>. Island Press: Washington, D.C.
- 64 Patel, Raj (2008). Stuffed and Starved: The hidden battle for the world food system. Brooklyn, NY: Melville House Publishing.
- 65 Food Chain Workers Alliance. (2012, June). <u>The Hands that Feed Us: Challenges and Opportunities for Workers along the</u> <u>Food Chain</u>. Los Angeles.
- 66 Foley, Jonathan. (2013, March). It's Time to Rethink American's Corn System. Scientific American.
- 67 Worldwatch Institute (2007). <u>Grain harvest sets record, but supplies still tight.</u> Vision for a Sustainable Future. Washington D.C.
- 68 Action Aid International U.S.A. (2012, October) Fueling the Food Crisis: The Cost to Developing Countries of U.S. Corn Ethanol Expansion. Washington, D.C.
- 69 FAO. (2015). <u>Key facts on food loss and waste you should know!</u> United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization. Global Initiative on Food Loss and Waste Reduction. Rome.
- 70 The Economist. (2011, February 24). Special Report: Feeding the World.
- Badgley, C. et. al. (2007). Organic agriculture and the global food supply. Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems, 22(02), 86.
- 72 Reganold, J. P., & Wachter, J. M. (2016). Organic agriculture in the twenty-first century. Nature Plants.
- 73 Davis, A. et. al. (2012). Increasing cropping system diversity balances productivity, profitability and environmental health. PLoS ONE, 7(10), e47149.
- 74 De Ponti, T., Rijk, B., & van Ittersum, M. K. (2012). The crop yield gap between organic and conventional agriculture. Agricultural Systems, 108, 1–9.



- 75 Seufert, V., Ramankutty, N., & Foley, J. A. (2012). Comparing the yields of organic and conventional agriculture. Nature, 485(7397), 229–232.
- 76 Kremen, C., and A. Miles. (2012) Ecosystem services in biologically diversified versus conventional farming systems: benefits, externalities, and trade-offs Ecology and Society 17(4): 40.
- 77 Ponisio, L. C., M'Gonigle, L. K., Mace, K. C., Palomino, J., de Valpine, P., & Kremen, C. (2015). Diversification practices reduce organic to conventional yield gap. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 282(1799).
- 78 Davis, A. S., Hill, J. D., Chase, C. A., Johanns, A. M., & Liebman, M. (2012). Increasing cropping system diversity balances productivity, profitability and environmental health.PLoS ONE, 7(10), e47149.
- 79 Reganold, J. P., & Wachter, J. M. (2016). Organic agriculture in the twenty-first century. Nature Plants.
- 80 Kremen, C., A. Iles, and C. Bacon. (2012). Diversified farming systems: an agroecological, systems-based alternative to modern industrial agriculture. Ecology and Society 17(4): 44.
- 81 Holt-Gimenez, Eric. (2001, April). Measuring farmers agroecological resistance to Hurricane Mitch. LEISA Magazine. (17:1).
- 82 Gupta, A. and J. van Etten, (2015). New seed varieties help Indian farmers adapt to climate change. Our Common Future.
- 83 Crowder, D. and Reganold J, (2015). Financial competitiveness of organic agriculture on a global scale. Proceedings of the National Academies of Science. 112(7611-7616).
- 84 Foreman, L. (2014, December). <u>Returns to organic corn production were higher than conventional in 2010.</u> United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service.
- 85 Nemes, N. (2009, June). Comparative analysis of organic and non-organic farming systems: A critical assessment of farm profitability. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome.
- 86 UNEP-UNCTAD Capacity-building Task Force on Trade, Environment and Development. (2008). <u>Organic Agriculture and</u> <u>Food Security in Africa.</u>
- 87 Ibid.
- Badgley, C., J. Moghtader, E. Quintero, E. Zakem, M. J. Chappell, K. Aviles-Vazquez, A. Samulon, and I. Perfecto. (2007).
  Organic agriculture and the global food supply. Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems. 22(02):86-108
- 89 Mendoza, T. (2004). Evaluatig the benefits of organic farming in rice agroecosystems in the Philippines. Journal of Sustainable Agriculture. 24(93-115).
- 90 El-Hage Scialabba, N. (2015, June). <u>Natural Capital Impacts in Agriculture: Supporting Better Business Decision-Making.</u> Food and Agriculture Organization of the United States.
- 91 Ponisio, L. C., M'Gonigle, L. K., Mace, K. C., Palomino, J., de Valpine, P., & Kremen, C. (2014). Diversification practices reduce organic to conventional yield gap. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 282(1799), 20141396-20141396.
- 92 Public Citizen.(1997) NAFTA's Broken Promises: Fast Track to Unsafe Food. Washington, D.C.: Public Citizen Publications.
- 93 Treat, S. (2015, November). <u>States' Leadership on Healthy Food and Farming at Risk under Proposed Trade Deals.</u> The Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy.
- 94 Lappe, Francis Moore and Joseph Collins. (2015). World Hunger: Ten Myths. New York: Grove Press.
- 95 Harkness, J. (2013, April). Free trade versus food democracy. The Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy.
- 96 Climate Smart Agriculture Concerns. (Online.) <u>Civil society says NO to "Climate Smart Agriculture"</u> and urges decisionmakers to support agroecology. http://www.climatesmartagconcerns.info/cop21-statement.html
- 97 Hamerschlag, K., Lappé, A., & Malkan, S. (2015, June). <u>Spinning Food: How food industry front groups and covert</u> <u>communications are shaping the story of food.</u> Friends of the Earth.
- 98 Gurian-Sherman, Doug. (2009, April). <u>Failure to Yield: Evaluating the Performance of Genetically Engineered Crops</u>. Union of Concerned Scientists. UCS Publications.
- 99 Fernandez-Cornejo, J., Wechsler, S. J., & Livingston, M. (2014, March 4). <u>Adoption of genetically engineered crops by U.S.</u> <u>Farmers has increased steadily for over 15 years.</u> U.S.DA Economic Research Service.
- 100 Fernandez-Cornejo, J., & Wechsler, S. J. (2015, July 9). <u>Recent trends in GE adoption</u>. United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service.
- 101 Benbrook, C. M. (2012). Impacts of genetically engineered crops on pesticide use in the U.S. -- the first sixteen years. Environmental Sciences Europe, 24(1), 24.
- 102 Fraser, K. (2013, January 25). Glyphosate resistant weeds intensifying. Stratus Ag Research.
- 103 Fernandez-Cornejo, J., & Osteen, C. (2015, May 4). <u>Managing Glyphosate resistance may sustain its efficacy and increase</u> <u>long-term returns to corn and soybean production.</u> United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service.
- 104 WHO. (2015, March). <u>IARC Monographs Volume 112: evaluation of five organophosphate insecticides and herbicides.</u> International Agency for Research on Cancer.
- 105 Kloppenburg, J. R. (2005). First the seed: The political economy of plant biotechnology. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.
- 106 Shafer, S. (2012, July 27). <u>Behind the Seed Scene</u>. AgWeb.
- 107 ETC Group. (2008, November). <u>Who Owns Nature? Corporate Power and the Final Frontier in the Commodification of Life</u> (Rep. No. 100).

- 108 National Corn Growers Association (2013). World of Corn: Unlimited Possibilities.
- 109 Fausti, S. W. (2015). The causes and unintended consequences of a paradigm shift in corn production practices. Environmental Science & Policy, 52, 41-50.
- 110 Jalonick, M. (2014, October 15). EPA approves new weed killer for engineered crops. Huffington Post.
- 111 Pollack, A. (2015, November 26). E.P.A. Revokes approval of new Dow herbicide for G.M.O. Crops. The New York Times.
- 112 Parmentier S. (2014.) Scaling-up Agroecological Approaches: What, Why and How? Oxfam-Solidarity, Belgium.
- 113 Thottathil, S. (2014). India's Organic Farming Revolution. Iowa City: University of Iowa Press.
- 114 FAO. (2008, August). <u>Cooperative sectoral approaches and sector-specific actions, in order to enhance implementation of</u> <u>Article 4, paragraph 1(c), of the Convention.</u>
- 115 People's Food Sovereignty. (2015, February). Declaration of the international forum for agroecology.
- 116 Bellarby, J., Foereid, B., Hastings, A., & Smith, P. (2008, January). <u>Cool farming: climate impacts of agriculture and mitigation</u> <u>potential</u>. Greenpeace International.
- 117 FAO. (2011, December). <u>Organic agriculture and climate change.</u> A report of the Roundtable on Organic Agriculture and Climate Change.
- 118 Williams, A.G., Audsley, E. and Sandars, D.L. (2006) <u>Determining the environmental burdens and resource use in the production of agricultural and horticultural commodities.</u> Department of Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs. UK.. Bedford: Cranfield University and Defra.
- 119 Hill, H. (2009). <u>Comparing Energy Use in Conventional and Organic Cropping Systems.</u> ATTRA National Sustainable Agriculture Information Service.
- 120 Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. (2000, March). Energy use in organic farming systems.
- 121 Toensmeir, Eric. (2015). The Carbon Farming Solution. Chelsea Green Publishing.
- 122 Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P. Smith, J. (2008). Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 363(1492), 789–813.
- 123 Penn State Extension. (Online). <u>Managing soils introduction to soils.</u> State College, PA. http://extension.psu.edu/ business/start-farming/soils-and-soil-management/managing-soils-introduction-to-soils-fact-sheet
- 124 Toensmeier, E. (2016). The carbon farming solution: A global toolkit of perennial crops and regenerative agriculture practices for climate change mitigation and food security. White River Junction, VT: Chelsea Green Publishing.
- 125 FAO. (2008, August). <u>Cooperative sectoral approaches and sector-specific actions, in order to enhance implementation of</u> <u>Article 4, paragraph 1(c), of the Convention.</u>
- 126 Sullivan, P. (2002). Drought Resistant Soil. ATTRA.
- 127 FAO. (2008, August). Subject: Cooperative sectoral approaches and sector-specific actions, in order to enhance implementation of Article 4, paragraph 1(c), of the Convention.
- 128 Kremen, C., & Miles, A. (2012). Ecosystem services in biologically diversified versus conventional farming systems: Benefits, Externalities, and Trade-Offs. Ecology and Society, 17(4).
- 129 Tuck, S. L., Winqvist, C., Mota, F., Ahnström, J., Turnbull, L. A., & Bengtsson, J. (2014). Land-use intensity and the effects of organic farming on biodiversity: A hierarchical meta-analysis. Journal of Applied Ecology, 51(3), 746-755.
- 130 Organic Research Centre. (2010, December). The biodiversity benefits of organic farming. Berkshire, UK.
- 131 Tuck, S. L., Winqvist, C., Mota, F., Ahnström, J., Turnbull, L. A., & Bengtsson, J. (2014). Land-use intensity and the effects of organic farming on biodiversity: A hierarchical meta-analysis. Journal of Applied Ecology, 51(3), 746-755.
- 132 Watts, Meriel and Stephanie Williamson (2015). <u>Replacing Chemistry with Biology: Phasing out highly hazardous pesticides</u> <u>with agroecology.</u> Pesticide Action Network Asia & the Pacific.
- 133 Sutton, P., D. Wallinga, J. Perron, M. Gottlieb, L. Sayre & T. Woodruff (2011) Reproductive Health and the Industrialized Food System: A Point of Intervention for Health Policy. Health Affairs, 30(5):888-897.
- 134 Klein, K., Clinton, S. and Thottathil, S. (2014). <u>Environmental Nutrition: Redefining Healthy Food in Health Care.</u> Health Care Without Harm. Reston, VA.
- 135 Brenda Eskenazi, et al. (2007). Organophosphate Pesticide Exposure and Neurodevelopment in Young Mexican-American Children. Environmental Health Perspectives. 115(5):792-798.
- 136 Maele-Fabre V, Lantin A, Hoet P, Lison D. (2010). Childhood leukaemia and parental occupational exposure to pesticides: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Causes Control. 21(6):787-809.
- 137 Koutros S, Alavanja M, Lubin J, Sandler D, et al.(2010). An update of cancer incidence in the Agricultural Health Study. Journal of Occup Environ Med. 52(11):1098-1105.
- 138 National Institutes of Health. (2012). Agricultural Health Study: Publications.
- 139 The Organic Center (online). Organic agriculture keeps farmworkers and their families safe. Washington DC. https://www. organic-center.org/news/organic-agriculture-keeps-farmworkers-and-their-families-safe/
- 140 Lu, Chengshen et al. (2006). Organic Diets Significantly Lower Children's Dietary Exposure to Organophosphate Pesticides. Environmental Health Perspectives, Volume 114(2).

- 141 Curl, Cynthia et al. (2003). Organophosphorous Pesticide Exposure of Urban and Suburban Pre-school Children with Organic and Conventional Diets. Environmental Health Perspectives, Volume 111(3).
- 142 Bradman, A., et al., (2015). Effect of organic diet intervention on pesticide exposures in young children living in low-income urban and agricultural communities. Environmental Health Perspectives. 123(10).
- 143 Imoff, Daniel (2012). CAFO: The Tragedy of Industrial Animal Factories. Watershed Media Press: Boston.
- 144 Westhoek, H., Lesschen, J. P., Rood, T., Wagner, S., De Marco, A., Murphy-Bokern, D., & Oenema, O. (2014). Food choices, health and environment: effects of cutting Europe's meat and dairy intake. Global Environmental Change, 26, 196-205.
- 145 Springmann, M., Godfray, H. C. J., Rayner, M., & Scarborough, P. (2016). Analysis and valuation of the health and climate change cobenefits of dietary change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 201523119.
- 146 Teague, W. et al. (2016). The role of ruminant's in reducing agriculture's carbon footprint in North America. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation. 71(2).
- 147 Savory Institute. (2015). Climate change, healthy soils, and holistic planned grazing. Boulder, CO.
- 148 Weber, K. T., & Gokhale, B. S. (2011). Effect of grazing on soil-water content in semiarid rangelands of southeast Idaho. Journal of Arid Environments, 75(5), 464–470.
- 149 Savory Institute. (2015). Climate change, healthy soils, and holistic planned grazing. Boulder, CO.
- 150 Gurian-Sherman, D. (2011, February). <u>Raising the steaks: global warming and pasture-raised beef production in the United</u> <u>States</u>. Union of Concerned Scientists
- 151 Pelletier, N., Pirog, R., & Rasmussen, R. (2010). Comparative life cycle environmental impacts of three beef production strategies in the upper midwestern United States. Agricultural Systems,103(6), 380–389.
- 152 Wang, T., Teague, W., Park, S., & Bevers, S. (2015). GHG Mitigation Potential of Different Grazing Strategies in the United States Southern Great Plains. Sustainability, 7(10), 13500-13521.
- 153 Willett, W and Stampfer, M. (2013, March). Current evidence on healthy eating. Annual Rev Public Health. 34:77-95.
- 154 Montenegro, M. (2015, June 17). <u>Agroecology can help fix our broken food system. Here's how.</u> ENSIA.
- 155 Edelman, M. (2014). Food sovereignty: Forgotten genealogies and future regulatory challenges. The Journal of Peasant Studies, 41(6), 959-978.
- 156 Forum for Food Sovereignty (2007, February). Nyéléni Declaraton. Sélingué, Mali.
- 157 Altieri, M., Funes-Monzote, F., & Petersen, P. (2011). Agroecologically efficient agricultural systems for smallholder farmers: contributions to food sovereignty. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 32(1), 1–13.
- 158 UNEP et. al. (2009). <u>Agriculture at a Crossroads: International Assessment of Agricultural Knowledge, Science and</u> <u>Technology for Development</u>. Island Press: Washington, D.C.
- 159 Rastegari Henneberry, S., Whitacre, B., & Agustini, H. (2009). An Evaluation of the Economic Impacts of Oklahoma Farmers Markets. Journal of Food Distribution Research, 40(3).
- 160 ActionAid International. (2004). Say no to soil carbon markets! Action Aid International Briefing.
- 161 Kill, J. (2015). <u>Financialization of nature.</u> Friends of the Earth International.
- 162 Suppan, S., & Sharma, S. (2011, September 9). <u>Elusive promises of the Kenya agricultural carbon project.</u> The Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy.
- 163 Lappe, Francis Moore and Joseph Collins. (2015). World Hunger: Ten Myths. New York: Grove Press.
- 164 Niggli, Urs. (2015). Sustainability of organic food production: Challenges and innovations. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 74(1): 83-88.
- 165 Carlisle, L., & Miles, A. (2013). Closing the Knowledge Gap: How the U.S.DA Could Tap the Potential of Biologically Diversified Farming Systems. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development JAFSCD, 219-225.
- 166 DeLonge, M. S., Miles, A., & L. Carlisle (2016). Investing in the transition to sustainable agriculture. Environmental Science & Policy, 55, 266–273.
- 167 Ponisio, L. C., M'Gonigle, L. K., Mace, K. C., Palomino, J., de Valpine, P., & Kremen, C. (2015). Diversification practices reduce organic to conventional yield gap. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 282(1799).
- 168 Kari Hamerschlag, (2013) Fairness for Small Farmers: A Missing Ingredient in the U.S. Farm Bill. A Better World, Issue 6, Spring 2013
- 169 Environmental Working Group. (online). 2009-2012 Farm Bill Spending (Actual) on Local and Regional Food Systems in US and California: Woefully Inadequate to Support Growing Demand for Local and Regional Food
- 170 Ibid.
- 171 Shanker, Deena. (2015, April 7). <u>American consumers are spending more on organic foods and so is their government</u>. *Quartz*.